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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION

JANNON KIRLEY, )
)

Plaintiff, )
) CASE NO. 

v. )
)

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF MAINE )
TOWNSHIP HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT 207 )
and MAINE TOWNSHIP HIGH SCHOOL )
DISTRICT 207, )

)
Defendant. ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Jannon Kirley, through her undersigned attorney, files this Complaint against

Defendant Board of Education of Maine Township High School District 207 and Maine Township

High School District 207  (hereinafter collectively “District 207"), and states as follows:

1. This is an action for employment discrimination and retaliation under Title VII of the

Civil Rights Act of 1964 (“Title VII”), 42 U.S.C. sec. 2000e et seq., and the Age Discrimination in

Employment Act (ADEA), 29 U.S.C. sec. 621 et seq.  This is also an action under 42 U.S.C. sec.

1983 (Section 1983) alleging a violation of Plaintiff’s rights under the First Amendment to the

United States Constitution, as incorporated by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

Constitution.  In addition, this is an action for retaliation under the Illinois Whistleblower’s Act

(“IWA”), 740 ILCS 174/1 et seq.

2. The Plaintiff is Jannon Kirley (“Kirley”), who is a citizen of the United States, and

resides in the Northern District of Illinois.   Kirley is female and was born in 1957.

3. The Defendants are the Board of Education of Maine Township High School District

Case: 1:13-cv-01706 Document #: 1 Filed: 03/05/13 Page 1 of 15 PageID #:1



2

207 and Maine Township High School District 207 (collectively “District 207”), a public school

district located in Park Ridge, Cook County, Illinois.  District 207 has three high schools, including

Maine South High School, Maine West High School and Maine East High School.

4. Kirley began her employment with District 207 in 2000 and continued her

employment with District 207 until  October 3, 2011, when she was suspended without pay pending

the conclusion of a dismissal hearing and final disposition of the dismissal proceedings.

5. Kirley has not worked or been paid by District 207 since at least October

3, 2011 and has had to seek other employment.  However, according to District 207, Kirley’s

discharge will not become final or effective unless and until the pending dismissal hearing is

concluded and there is a final disposition of the proceedings against Kirley.  

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Kirley’s federal claims pursuant to 28

U.S.C. secs. 1331 and 1343(a)(3), 29 U.S.C. sec. 626 and 42 U.S.C. secs. 1981, 1983 and 1988 and

2000e-5(f)(3).  The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Kirley’s state law claims pursuant to

28 U.S.C. sec. 1367.

7. This Court has venue under 28 U.S.C. sec. 1391.

8. Kirley filed charge 846201190905 against District 207 asserting the acts of

discrimination and retaliation indicated in this complaint with the United States Equal Employment

Opportunity Commission (EEOC) on or about October 3, 2011.  A copy of the charge is attached

to this Complaint as Exhibit A and is incorporated herein by reference 

9. Kirley filed charge No. 440201202701 against District 207 asserting the acts of

discrimination and retaliation indicated in this complaint with the United States Equal Employment

Opportunity Commission (EEOC) on or about March 16, 2012.  A copy of the charge is attached to
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this Complaint as Exhibit B and is incorporated herein by reference 

10.  Pursuant to the policies of the EEOC and the Illinois Department of Human Rights

(IDHR) the charges were cross-filed with the IDHR.

11. The Department of Justice and EEOC issued  Notices of Right to Sue with respect

to Kirley’s charges of discrimination, all of which were mailed by the Department of Justice to

Kirley (c/o her counsel) on or after December 5, 2012 (according to the postmark on the envelope

in which the Notices of Right to Sue were contained), and which were received by Kirley (c/o her

counsel) on or after December 11, 2012.   A copy of Notices of Right to Sue, and the envelope in

which said Notices of Right to Sue were mailed, are attached to this Complaint as Exhibit C.

12. Kirley became a tenured teacher at District 207 in or about 2004.

13. After being hired by District 207 in 2000, Kirley worked as a teacher at Maine

South High School, where she taught physical education and health.  In addition, Kirley served as

a swimming and water polo coach at Maine South High School.   

14. On or about May 10, 2011, Kirley was informed that she was being involuntarily

transferred to Maine West High School.

15. At all relevant times, Kirley’s performance as a teacher met District 207's legitimate

expectations.

16. The last three performance evaluations Kirley received while employed by District

207 rated Kirley as excellent.

17. Kirley’s review for 2004 and 2005 (dated on or about March 28, 2006) stated, in part:

“Ms. Kirley is an excellent example of being a team player.  She volunteers numerous times so that

our students maximize their opportunities while attending Maine South.”  
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18. On or about January 23, 2008, the Assistant Superintendent for District 207 stated,

in part, in reference to Kirley, that: 

Due to her maturity and professional experience, she adjusted very easily to a new school
culture and climate and quickly developed a positive rapport with her students and
colleagues.  As both a role model for inexperienced teachers and a department leader within
a large suburban school district, Mrs. McKenney-Kirley worked tirelessly to achieve the
district’s mission, which is to improve student learning.

19. On or about January 23, 2008, Kirley’s direct supervisor, the Maine South

Physical Education Department Chairperson, stated, in part, in reference to Kirley, that:

It is quite evident that Ms. Kirley has engaged in a variety of quality leadership roles that will
be an asset to any administrative position.  She is dependable, educationally sound, and
enthusiastic about her role as an educational leader.

20. Kirley’s review for 2008 and 2009 (dated on or about March 12, 2010) stated, in part:

Ms. Kirley continues to lead and contribute to our Aquatics and freshman curriculum,
respectively.  Her ability to connect with students is evident in my formal and informal
observations.  She genuinely cares for students.  Ms. Kirley plans units and lessons that meet
the departmental and district guidelines.  She offers students positive and corrective feedback
and is more specific than general.  Her assessments are authentic. 

21. On or about January 20, 2010, Kirley attended a public District 207 School Board

meeting at Maine East High School where a large number of people, including parents and other

community members, were present to discuss and speak about staff and program reductions being

proposed by the Superintendent of District 207 and his staff.

22. On January 20, 2010, while at Maine East to attend the School Board meeting, Kirley

spoke to a School Board member of District 207.   Kirley told the School Board member that she had

learned  negative information about the Superintendent of District 207.

23. At the time Kirley made these statements to the School Board member, Kirley

observed that the Superintendent was standing nearby and Kirley believed that he could hear what
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she said to the School Board member.

24. On or about January 21, 2010, after students and staff had been dismissed for the

day, while exiting Maine South, Kirley observed a car driven by the Superintendent almost hit her.

  25. Kirley reported the incident to law enforcement, including but not necessarily

limited to, the Park Ridge Police Department, and indicated that she believed that the Superintendent

had acted intentionally.   Kirley had reasonable cause to believe that the incident constituted a

violation of the Illinois criminal code.    The Park Ridge Police Department classified Kirley’s report

of the incident as a report of aggravated assault and investigated the incident.   

26. Kirley reported the incident to the Park Ridge Police Department as a private citizen

and not pursuant to her duties as a teacher.  In addition, she reported the incident to the Park Ridge

Police Department because she believed the matter was of public concern.

27. On or about March 10, 2010, the Assistant Superintendent of District 207 wrote a

letter to Kirley stating in part that the  police investigation relating to the incident was

“inconclusive.”  Nevertheless, District 207 asked Kirley to meet with an investigator hired by

District 207 to conduct an investigation into the incident Kirley reported to the police.   

28. On or about May 28, 2010, District 207 wrote a letter to Kirley (which she was given

 in  June of 2010) indicating that the investigator it had hired to investigate the incident found that

there was no merit to her allegations.   The letter admonished Kirley not to use work time to pursue

personal agendas, including to collect or disseminate negative information about other employees

of the District.  In addition, the letter admonished Kirley to be forthright and accurate in presenting

complaints and responding to those investigating matters on behalf of the Board or the District. 

29. Prior to May 28, 2010, Kirley had not received any formal or informal discipline

Case: 1:13-cv-01706 Document #: 1 Filed: 03/05/13 Page 5 of 15 PageID #:5



6

since being hired by District 207 in 2000.

30. In March of 2011, Kirley informed the Maine South Physical Education Department

Chair, the Maine South Principal, and other Maine South employees,  that she believed that the

process for selecting one of the male students for a position as a junior leader was not being

followed.   In addition, she complained that her gender played a part in the process not being

followed in that male physical education teachers were usurping her role in deciding whether to

recommend the male student for the position.

31. On or about March 9, 2011, a meeting was held at which the student’s eligibility

for being a junior leader was discussed.  Kirley, her supervisor and several of the other physical

education teachers were present at the meeting.  At the meeting, Kirley was yelled at by one or more

of the participants at the meeting.  In addition, she was cursed at by one of the physical education

teachers.  

32. On March 17, 2011, Kirley informed her supervisor that she had also been cursed at

by a male physical education teacher.

33. Although the Maine South principal determined that a teacher had cursed at

Kirley during the March 9, 2011 meeting, the teacher was not disciplined.  In addition, the male

teacher who Kirley alleged cursed at her was not disciplined.

34. On March 25, 2011 and April 3, 2011, Kirley, sent emails to her supervisor

in which she raised concerns about the way she had been treated at the meeting on March 9, 2011

and the way in which the incident had been handled.  In the emails, she also gave examples of past

incidents which she believed raised concerns about how she and other employees were treated within

the department.  
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35. For example, in the March 25 email, Kirley stated, in part, that she was asked how

old she was and when she was going to retire and indicated that she found these questions offensive.

In the April 3, 2011 email, Kirley stated, in part, that an  incident had occurred during which a male

who helped coach the Maine South football team brought in thong underwear for a female physical

education teacher and that an incident had occurred during which a male Maine South staff member

made inappropriate comments about female cheerleaders.

36. Kirley’s actions constituted opposition to what she reasonably and in good faith

believed to be gender and/or age discrimination.

37. After receiving copies of Kirley’s March 25, 2011 and April 3, 2011 emails, District

207 categorized Kirley’s complaints, in part, as including complaints of “hostile work

environment/harassment,” “inappropriate comments concerning female students,” and “ sexual

harassment.”

38. On April 28, 2011, the Principal of Maine South told Kirley, in writing, that he was

recommending that disciplinary action, including a Notice to Remedy, be taken against her because

he was unable to substantiate any of the allegations she made in her March 25, 2011 and April  3,

2011 emails and had therefore violated the letter of admonishment dated May 28, 2010 (for reporting

the January 21, 2010 incident to the police) which admonished Kirley to be forthright and accurate

in presenting complaints and responding to those investigating matters on behalf of the Board or the

District.   The Principal’s letter also stated that she should not communicate with any students or

staff (other than union officials), in any fashion, about events related to her allegations and the

subsequent investigation. 

39. On May 4, 2011, the Assistant Superintendent told Kirley, in writing, that she was
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being suspended for one week and that the recommendation to give her a Notice to Remedy would

be presented to the school board on May 6, 2011.

40. On May 6, 2011, District 207 gave Kirley the Notice to Remedy.  The Notice to

Remedy stated, in part:

Do not use work time to pursue personal agendas or personal business.

****

Do not communicate with colleagues, parents or students about this disciplinary action or the
incidents underlying the disciplinary action except for the purpose of preparing a response
to the disciplinary recommendation.  In the event such communication is necessary, it must
be handled in a collegial, non-threatening manner, and [the Maine South Principal] or the
District’s attorney must be notified of the individuals you intend to communicate with in
advance of such communication.

41. Other District 207 employees who were not forthright and accurate  in presenting

complaints and responding to those investigating matters on behalf of the Board or the District were

not disciplined.

42. Other District 207 employees were not given written instructions restricting their

ability to speak with colleagues, parents or students.  

43. The directives given Kirley by District 207 were designed to prohibit Kirley from

engaging in protected activities including, but not limited to, exercising her right to free speech and

exercising her right to oppose discrimination by communicating with others regarding her

allegations of discrimination and retaliation.

44. On or about May 10, 2011, Kirley was transferred from Maine South to Maine West.

45. On or about May 20, 2011, District 207 suspended Kirley for actions occurring on

or about May 3, 2011 during which she allegedly violated the directive not to speak with staff in any

fashion about events related to her allegations and the investigation.
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46. On or about May 21, 2011, Kirley asked her union to file a grievance alleging

discrimination and retaliation against District 207, and supervisory employees of District 207,

including the Superintendent, Assistant Superintendent, Principal of Maine South, Assistant

Principal of Maine South, and the Chairperson of her Department.

47. On May 23, 2011, Kirley told the Maine South principal that she intended to file a

charge of discrimination with the EEOC.  

48. On June 14, 2011, District 207 removed Kirley as the Maine South girl’s head water

polo coach.

49. In August of 2011, even though she had been transferred to Maine West,  Kirley was

asked to meet with the Assistant Principal of Maine South.  The Assistant Principal told Kirley that

a student in Kirley’s Spring 2011 Lifeguarding Class had told him that she had not received her

American Red Cross Water Safety Instructor (WSI) certification.   Kirley’s duties with respect to

issuing the WSI certificates were pursuant to her status as a certified American Red Cross Instructor

and were separate from her duties as a teacher at District 207.    Kirley explained to the Assistant

Principal why she had not sent out the WSI certificates and agreed to send out the WSI certificates.

50. After Kirley had sent out the WSI certificates, Kirley was asked to meet with District

207 officials, including the Assistant Superintendent of District 207 and the Principal of Maine

South.  At the meeting, Kirley was accused of retaliating against the  student for complaining about

her coaching by purposely withholding her WSI certificate.

51. Kirley did not retaliate against any students for complaining about her coaching.

52. Kirley did not know that the student had complained about her coaching.  In addition,

Kirley sent out the WSI certificates for all of the students in the lifeguarding class who were eligible
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for such certificates, including the student who Kirley was accused of retaliating against, at the same

time. 

53. On or about September 19, 2011 another investigative meeting was held.  At the

meeting, the Assistant Superintendent asked Kirley whether she conducted research about filing an

EEOC charge.  At the meeting, Kirley was asked whether she had sought to file a union grievance

alleging discrimination and retaliation.  At the meeting, Kirley was also asked whether she had made

statements indicating that she had hired a lawyer regarding legal actions against the District.

54. Prior to the September 19, 2011 meeting, District 207 had looked to see whether

Kirley had accessed any web sites from her school computer and determined that Kirley had accessed

the EEOC web site.  In addition, District 207 had determined that Kirley had sent an email to her

union  asking to file a grievance alleging discrimination and retaliation.

55. Other District 207 employees who used their school computers for personal reasons

were not disciplined by District 207.

56. On or about September 22, 2011, District 207 sent Kirley a letter indicating that she

was suspended for ten days and that a recommendation would be made for her dismissal.

57. On or about September 29, 2011, Kirley, through her counsel, provided District 207

with a letter indicating that she believed that she was being discriminated against because of her age

and gender, being retaliated against for opposing discrimination, being retaliated against for

disclosing information to a law enforcement agency, and being retaliated against for exercising her

right to free speech.

58. On October 3, 2011,Kirley filed charge number  846201190905 with the EEOC,

which she presented to District 207  before District 207 considered whether to recommend her
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dismissal.

59. On or about October 3, 2011 District 207 adopted charges and particulars against

Kirley seeking her dismissal.  The charges and particulars included references to the allegations she

made against the Superintendent to the Park Ridge Police Department in 2010, the letter of

admonishment dated May 28, 2010 for making such allegations, the allegations she made in the

March and April 2011 emails, and the May 6, 2011 Notice to Remedy.  In addition, the charge and

particulars referred to allegations that she violated her Notice to Remedy by communicating with

colleagues and students, that she was not forthright and truthful, and that she retaliated against two

students by not giving them their WSI certificates.  

60. Pursuant to the October 3, 2011 letter, Kirley was suspended without pay pending the

conclusion of a hearing and final disposition of the dismissal proceedings.

61.  On information and belief, Kirley was replaced by a younger male employee.

62. The charges, suspension without pay and dismissal recommendation, against Kirley

are pretexts for discrimination and retaliation for Kirley’s protected activities.

COUNT I 
 GENDER DISCRIMINATION AND RETALIATION UNDER TITLE VII

63. Kirley incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-62 of this Complaint as paragraph 63

of Count I of this Complaint.

64. District 207 discriminated against Kirley based on Kirley’s gender in violation of 

of sections 2000(e)(2)(a) and (m) of Title VII.

65. District 207 retaliated against Kirley based on Kirley’s opposition to gender

discrimination and participation in the EEOC charge filing process pursuant to section 2000(e)(3)

of Title VII.
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66. District 207 has discriminated and retaliated against Kirley by subjecting her to

discipline and/or suspending her in or about May, June, and September 2011, and recommending

her dismissal in or about October of 2011 and suspending her without pay since in or about October

of 2011, transferring her in or about May of 2011, taking away her coaching duties in or about June

of 2011, and giving her directives that restricted her right to oppose discrimination, including by

restricting her right to freely communicate with others. 

COUNT II
AGE DISCRIMINATION AND RETALIATION UNDER THE ADEA

67. Kirley incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-62 of this Complaint as paragraph 67

of Count II of this Complaint.

68. District 207 discriminated against Kirley based on Kirley’s age in violation of 

of section 623(a) of the ADEA.

69. District 207 retaliated against Kirley based on Kirley opposition to age discrimination

and participation in the EEOC charge filing process in violation of section 623(d) of the ADEA.

70. District 207 has discriminated and retaliated against Kirley by subjecting her to

discipline and/or suspending her in or about May, June, and September 2011, and recommending

her dismissal in or about October of 2011 and suspending her without pay since in or about October

of 2011, transferring her in or about May of 2011, taking away her coaching duties in or about June

of 2011, and giving her directives that restricted her right to oppose discrimination, including by

restricting her right to freely communicate with others. 

COUNT III  
RETALIATION FOR EXERCISING FIRST 

AMENDMENT RIGHT TO FREE SPEECH UNDER SEC. 1983

71. Kirley incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 62 as paragraph 71 of Count
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III of this Complaint.

72. District 207 has retaliated against Kirley for exercising her right to free speech by

subjecting her to discipline and/or  suspending her in or about May, June, and September 2011,

recommending her dismissal in or about October of 2011 and suspending her without pay since

October of 2011, transferring her in or about May of 2011, taking away her coaching duties in or

about June of 2011, and giving her directives that restricted her right to free speech, including, but

not limited to, the letter of admonishment dated May 28, 2010. 

73. District 207 is a final policymaker for purposes of Section 1983 because it  made

and/or  ratified the decisions to give Kirley the adverse actions described above.

COUNT IV
STATE LAW CLAIM UNDER THE IWA

74. Kirley incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 62 as paragraph 74 of Count

IV of this Complaint.

75. The Whistleblower Act, 740 ILCS 174/15 et seq., provides, in part, that:

(a) An employer may not retaliate against an employee who discloses information in a court,
an administrative hearing, or before a legislative commission or committee, or in any other
proceeding, where the employee has reasonable cause to believe that the information
discloses a violation of a State or federal law, rule, or regulation.

(b) An employer may not retaliate against an employee for disclosing information to a
government or law enforcement agency, where the employee has reasonable cause to believe
that the information discloses a violation of a State or federal law, rule, or regulation. 

76. District 207 retaliated against Kirley for disclosing information she had

reasonable cause to believe constituted a violation of State law by disciplining and/or suspending

her in or about May of 2010, May, June and September of 2011, recommending her dismissal in or

about October of 2011, and suspending her without pay since in or about October of 2011,
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transferring her in or about May of 2011, taking away her coaching duties in or about June of 2011,

and giving her directives that restricted her right to engage in protected activity under the IWA,

including but not limited to the letter of admonishment dated May 28, 2010. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Kirley prays that the Court grant her the following relief against District 207, to

the extent permissible pursuant to her claims:

A. That District 207 be directed to reinstate Plaintiff, with the same seniority status that

she would have had but for the violation pursuant to Title VII, the ADEA, Section 1983 and the

IWA;

B. That to the extent reinstatement is not ordered, that District 207 pay her front pay to

the extent permissible;

C. That District 207 be directed to compensate Plaintiff to the extent permissible, for all

backpay due to Defendant's discrimination and retaliation;

D. That District 207 be directed to compensate Plaintiff for all back benefits to the extent

permissible, including but not limited to back pension and medical benefits;

E. That District 207 be directed to pay Plaintiff compensatory damages to the extent

permissible, including, but not limited to, damages for embarrassment, humiliation,  inconvenience,

loss of enjoyment of life and other losses;

F. That District 207 be directed to pay Plaintiff prejudgment and postjudgment interest

to the extent permissible;

G. That District 207  be directed to pay Plaintiff expert witness fees, attorneys' fees and

costs to the extent permissible;
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H. That plaintiff be awarded other injunctive relief, including but not limited to an order

requiring District 207 to cease and desist discriminating and retaliating against Plaintiff and lifting

any restrictions on Plaintiff designed to prohibit her from exercising her rights;

I. All other relief required to make Plaintiff whole or that is deemed appropriate by the

Court.

PLAINTIFF DEMANDS THAT THE CASE BE TRIED BY A JURY.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Robert R. Cohen
Plaintiff’s Attorney

Robert R. Cohen
ARDC No. 6193698
rcohen@frankelandcohen.com
Frankel & Cohen
53 W. Jackson Blvd., Suite 1615
Chicago, Illinois 60604
(312) 759-9600

Date: March 5, 2013
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